
NEVADA STATE BOARD  

of 
DENTAL EXAMINERS 

 

 

 

Board Teleconference Meeting 

 

Tuesday, October 20, 2020 

6:00 p.m. 

 
 

PUBLIC BOOK  



Agenda Item (4)(a)(1)
Draft Minutes 

Board Meeting - 09/15/2020 

Page 2



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 1 
 

 1 
 2 

PUBLIC MEETING NOTICE & BOARD MEETING AMENDED AGENDA 3 
 4 

Meeting Date & Time 5 
 6 

Tuesday, September 15, 2020  7 
6:00 p.m.  8 

 9 
This meeting was held exclusively through teleconference means,  10 

in accordance with Emergency Directives issued by Governor Sisolak 11 
 12 

DRAFT MINUTES 13 
 14 

PUBLIC NOTICE:  15 
 16 

** This meeting will be held via TELECONFERENCE ONLY, pursuant to Section 1 of the DECLARATION 17 
OF EMERGENCY DIRECTIVE 006 (“DIRECTIVE 006”) issued by the State of Nevada Executive 18 

Department and as extended by Directives 016, 018, 021, 026, and 029. There will be no physical 19 
location for this meeting** 20 

 21 
Public Comment by pre-submitted email/written form, only, is available after roll call (beginning of meeting); Live Public Comment 22 
by teleconference is available prior to adjournment (end of meeting).  Live Public Comment is limited to three (3) minutes for each 23 
individual.  24 
 25 
Pursuant to Section 2 of Directive 006, members of the public may participate in the meeting by submitting public comment in 26 
written form to: Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners, 6010 S. Rainbow Blvd, A-1, Las Vegas, Nevada 89118; FAX number (702) 27 
486-7046; e-mail address nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov. Written submissions received by the Board on or before Monday, September 14, 2020 28 
by 4:00 p.m. may be entered into the record during the meeting. Any other written public comment submissions received prior to the 29 
adjournment of the meeting will be included in the permanent record.   30 
 31 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners may 1) address agenda items out of sequence to accommodate persons appearing 32 
before the Board or to aid the efficiency or effectiveness of the meeting; 2) combine items for consideration by the public body; 3) 33 
pull or remove items from the agenda at any time.  The Board may convene in closed session to consider the character, alleged 34 
misconduct, professional competence or physical or mental health of a person.  See NRS 241.030.  Prior to the commencement and 35 
conclusion of a contested case or a quasi-judicial proceeding that may affect the due process rights of an individual the board may 36 
refuse to consider public comment.  See NRS 233B.126.   37 
 38 
Persons/facilities who want to be on the mailing list must submit a written request every six (6) months to the Nevada State Board of 39 
Dental Examiners at the address listed in the previous paragraph.  With regard to any board meeting or telephone conference, it is 40 
possible that an amended agenda will be published adding new items to the original agenda. Amended Nevada notices will be 41 
posted in compliance with the Open Meeting Law.   42 
We are pleased to make reasonable accommodations for members of the public who are disabled and wish to attend the meeting. 43 
If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the Board, at (702) 486-7044, no later than 48 hours prior to the 44 
meeting.  Requests for special arrangements made after this time frame cannot be guaranteed. 45 
Pursuant to NRS 241.020(2) you may contact at (702) 486-7044, to request supporting materials for the public body or you may 46 
download the supporting materials for the public body from the Board’s website at http://dental.nv.gov In addition, the supporting 47 
materials for the public body are available at the Board’s office located at 6010 S Rainbow Blvd, Ste. A-1, Las Vegas, Nevada. 48 

 49 
Note:  Asterisks (*) “For Possible Action” denotes items on which the Board may take action. 50 
Note:  Action by the Board on an item may be to approve, deny, amend, or tabled.51 

 52 
 53 

/// 54 

Page 3

mailto:nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov
http://dental.nv.gov/


 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 2 
 

1. Call to Order 55 
- Roll call/Quorum 56 
 57 
Board Member Moore called the meeting to order at approximately 6:08 p.m. and Mr. 58 
DiMaggio conducted the following roll call:  59 
 60 

Dr. D. Kevin Moore (President)------------  PRESENT Dr. Ronald Lemon --------------- PRESENT 
Dr. David Lee (Secretary-Treasurer) ---- PRESENT Dr. Ronald West ------------------ PRESENT 
Dr. Elizabeth Park ----------------------------- PRESENT Ms. Caryn Solie ------------------ PRESENT 
W. Todd Thompson -------------------------- PRESENT Ms. Gabrielle Cioffi -------------  PRESENT 
Mrs. Jana McIntyre --------------------------- PRESENT   

 61 
Executive Staff Present:  Phil Su, General Counsel; Frank DiMaggio, Executive Director.  62 
 63 
 64 

2. Public Comment (By pre-submitted email/written form):  The public comment period is limited to matters 65 
specifically noticed on the agenda.  No action may be taken upon the matter raised during public comment unless the 66 
matter itself has been specifically included on the agenda as an action item.  Comments by the public may be limited 67 
to three minutes as a reasonable time, place and manner restriction, but may not be limited based upon viewpoint.  68 
The Chairperson may allow additional time at his/her discretion.  69 
 70 
Pursuant to Section 2 of Directive 006, and extended by Directives 016, 018, 021, 026, and 029, members of the public 71 
may participate in the meeting without being physically present by submitting public comment via email to 72 
nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov, or by mailing/faxing messages to the Board office. Written submissions received by the Board on 73 
or before Monday, September 14, 2020 by 4:00 p.m. may be entered into the record during the meeting. Any other 74 
written public comment submissions received prior to the adjournment of the meeting will be included in the 75 
permanent record.   76 
 77 
In accordance with Attorney General Opinion No. 00-047, as restated in the Attorney General’s Open Meeting Law 78 
Manual, the Chair may prohibit comment if the content of that comment is a topic that is not relevant to, or within the 79 
authority of, the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners, or if the content is willfully disruptive of the meeting by being 80 
irrelevant, repetitious, slanderous, offensive, inflammatory, irrational, or amounting to personal attacks or interfering with 81 
the rights of other speakers.  82 

 83 
Mr. DiMaggio read public comment that was received prior to the Board meeting, into the record.  84 
  85 
 86 
*3.   President’s Report: (For Possible Action)  87 
 88 

(a)  Request to remove agenda item(s) (For Possible Action) 89 
 90 
No items were requested to be removed.  91 
 92 

(b)  Approve Agenda (For Possible Action) 93 
 94 
MOTION:  Board Member West moved to approve the agenda.  Board Member Lemon seconded 95 
the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.   96 
 97 
 98 
*4.   Secretary-Treasurer’s Report: (For Possible Action) 99 
 100 
              *a. Minutes (For Possible Action) 101 
 102 

(1) Board Meeting – 07/14/2020 103 
(2) Employment Committee Meeting – 7/21/2020 104 
(3) Board Meeting – 7/21/2020 105 
(4) Employment Committee Meeting – 7/28/2020 106 
(5) Board Meeting – 7/28/2020 107 
(6) Anesthesia Committee & Anesthesia Sub-Committee Meeting – 7/29/2020 108 

Page 4

mailto:nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov


 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 3 
 

(7) Employment Committee Meeting – 8/4/2020 109 
(8) Board Meeting – 08/04/2020 110 
(9) Disciplinary Committee Meeting – 8/11/2020 111 
(10) Legislative, Legal, and Dental Practice Committee Meeting – 8/13/2020 112 

 113 
Board Member Lee stated that all board members should have had the opportunity to review the 114 
draft minutes and inquired if there were any amendments or changes to be made.   115 
 116 

MOTION: Board Member Thompson moved to approve the minutes. Board Member Lemon 117 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed. 118 

 119 
 120 
 121 
*5.   General Counsel’s Report: (For Possible Action) 122 
 123 
   *a. Discussion and consideration of Disciplinary Committee’s recommendation to approve  124 
                     Stipulation Agreements, and possible approval/rejection of said stipulation agreements  125 

 – NRS 622 (For Possible Action) 126 
 127 

(1) Kerry Davis, DDS 128 
 129 
Mr. Su noted that Dr. Kerry Davis and Ms. Katherine Gordon were both present.  Mr. Su gave a brief 130 
overview of the stipulation agreement and the proposed provisions.  Board Member Park made 131 
some inquiries regarding patients and prescriptions prescribed.   Mr. Su noted that the CE 132 
requirements were as written prior in 2019, which was prior to COVID-19. He added that in lieu of 133 
requiring live CE’s be completed, that the Board was allowing for the CE’s to be completed by live 134 
webinar.  There was additional discussion regarding concerns that Dr. Davis had with finding live 135 
webinar courses regarding record keeping, and inquired if the Board would permit him to 136 
complete a home study course.   Board Member Moore stated that suggested that because Dr. 137 
Davis appeared to not be able to find a course for 4 hours in record keeping, that perhaps the 138 
Board could permit for him to complete a home study course.   139 
 140 

MOTION:  Board Member Thompson moved to adopt the stipulation agreement, with the 141 
requirement of eight (8) hours of prescription substance abuse, misuse be live 142 
webinar and the four (4) hours in record keeping be completed by home study.  Mr. 143 
Su noted that only half of the CE hours were required to be live instruction and the 144 
other half may be home study.  He clarified that the pursuant to regulation, fifty 145 
percent of the CE courses were permitted to be completed online via home study 146 
and fifty percent were required to be live instruction.  There was some discussion 147 
between the Mr. Su, the Board and Dr. Davis regarding the same.  Board Member 148 
Thompson accepted to amend his motion to include allowing that for all four hours 149 
of the record keeping course may be done online via home study.   Board Member 150 
West seconded the amended motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  151 

 152 
 153 
 154 

(2) Phillip Devore, DDS  155 
 156 
Mr. Su noted that Dr. Devore and his counsel, Ms. Bridget Kelly were present.  Mr. Su gave a brief 157 
overview of the stipulation agreement and the provisions set forth.  Mr. Su stated that Dr. Devore 158 
had already completed four of the nine hours of CE’s required, which were approved by the 159 
previous Executive Director.  He noted that the previous Executive Director had given a verbal 160 
approval of an additional course, which Dr. Devore had not yet taken.  Ms. Kelly clarified that they 161 
were in a situation where Dr. Devore had written approval from the previous Executive Director to 162 

Page 5



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 4 
 

take a course that he has not yet taken, and that he had verbal approval to complete another live 163 
course, which he has already taken. Ms. Kelly and Dr. Devore were hopeful that the Board would 164 
honor verbal approval and the written approval of courses.    165 
 166 

MOTION:  Board Member Thompson moved to adopt the stipulation agreement with the 167 
approved courses, whether approved written or verbally.  Board Member West 168 
seconded the motion. Discussion: Board Member Moore noted that the 169 
documents provided to the Board in their board books show that Dr. Devore has 170 
already completed 8 hours already.  Mr. Su noted that Dr. Davis would be 171 
completing a total of 12 hours per the stipulation agreement. No further 172 
discussion. All were in favor, motion passed.  173 

 174 
*6.  New Business: (For Possible Action) 175 
             176 
         *a.   Request for reimbursement to Kevin Moore, DDS, for amounts paid to FabianVanCott,   177 
                 attorneys at law, for legal services rendered from December 12,2019 through January 13,  178 
                 2020 (Board Policy regarding Payment of Fees of Personal Counsel – 2/22/19)  179 
                  (For Possible Action) 180 
 181 
Board Member Moore stated for the record that he would not be voting on this matter.  Mr. Su 182 
stated that this was a request for the potential reimbursement of legal fees that Board Member 183 
Moore incurred from December 12, 2019 through January 13, 2020.  Mr. Su gave the history of the 184 
transition that the Board went through upon the resignation of many board members and the 185 
previous General Counsel and Executive Director tendered their resignations (sic terminated 186 
without cause/PS) but they had not been ratified by any board, because there was not a board to 187 
ratify them.  His understanding was that the assigned DAG was not able to be reached or to be of 188 
assistance because she was in the process of negotiating the exits of the two Board executives.  He 189 
noted that with help from the services of Brad Slighting, who at that time was not yet interim 190 
General Counsel, he would not accept that employment until mid-January, after the bills were 191 
incurred.  Mr. Su went over the bills submitted to the Board.  Mr. Su referred to the Board’s policy 192 
regarding reimbursement of legal fees, and gave the background to the creation of the policy.  He 193 
read the third paragraph from the policy into the record.   Board Member Lee stated that he was 194 
present when this all occurred, and that the purpose that Board Member Moore hired the outside 195 
counsel was because Mr. Slighting was an Employment Specialist because at the time the 196 
Executive Director and Board Counsel were in a termination limbo, therefore, they could not 197 
consult with the Board’s General Counsel.  Board Member Moore stated that the previous 198 
Executive Director and General Counsel were terminated at a public Board of Examiners meeting 199 
in front of the Governor.  Board Member Lee stated that there were questions regarding their 200 
termination and therefore they felt it necessary to seek outside counsel since they were not getting 201 
any assistance from the DAG’s office.  Board Member Lee discussed the fees listed on the memo.   202 
He stated that Board Member Moore retained outside counsel to assist the Board, and not for 203 
personal purposes.  Board Member Lee suggested that the Board not reimburse the discounted 204 
amount, but rather the full amount paid by Board Member Moore.  Board Member Lee stated that 205 
Board Member Moore shouldn’t have to incur such a cost from his personal account, when it was 206 
for purposes of the Board.   207 
 208 
MOTION: Board Member Lee moved to approve to reimburse the full amount rather than the 209 
discounted rate.  Board Member Park inquired how many billable hours were on the original bill. Mr. 210 
Su responded that there were 28.6 hours.  Board Member Park stated that the hours reflected on 211 
the bill were not reflective of all the hours Mr. Slighting actually worked.  She thanked Board 212 
Member Moore for stepping up in his leadership and Mr. Slighting for volunteering his time.  She 213 
concurred with Board Member Lee’s motion to reimburse Board Member Moore the full amount.   214 
Board Member Park seconded the motion.  Discussion: Board Member West stated that when Mr. 215 

Page 6



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 5 
 

Slighting was interim counsel, his work blended in from the time before he was hired by the Board 216 
and from when he was retained by Board Member Moore.  Board Member Thompson agreed that 217 
Board Member Moore should be reimbursed, that no board member should have to incur such a 218 
personal expense when they were trying to assist the Board.  Board Member Cioffi agreed with 219 
Board Member Lee that Board Member Moore should be reimbursed, and noted that there were 220 
scenarios where the Board had to contract with outside counsel.  She stated that this was clearly 221 
for the work of the Board that needed to be done and fully supported fully reimbursing Board 222 
Member Moore.  Board Member Lee he noted that it was his suggestion that Board Member Moore 223 
request to be reimbursed since no board member should have to incur such costs.  Mr. Su affirmed 224 
the comment by Board Member Lee.  He noted that Mr. DiMaggio pointed out that Board Member 225 
Moore paid $6,697.50 in legal fees.  Board Member Lee reiterated his motion to reimburse Board 226 
Member Moore the full amount of $6, 697.50.  Board Member Park seconded to the motion.  Board 227 
Member Lee called for discussion. Board Member Solie asked if Ms. Bordelove was not responding, 228 
did they at least notify the AG’s office so that they could retain outside counsel.  Board Member 229 
Lee stated that the AG’s office was notified.  Board Member Park stated that she actually went 230 
above Ms. Bordelove’s and contacted her superior to try and get Ms. Bordelove to respond to the 231 
Board. Board Member Moore stated that Ms. Bordelove was approached by Board Member Cioffi 232 
and received a response, Board Member Lee then asked the same group of questions and he 233 
followed up with the same set of questions to Ms. Bordelove.  He noted that it wasn’t that Ms. 234 
Bordelove did not respond, but rather she would not directly answer the questions that they had.  235 
He noted that Mr. Su was privy to those emails, and that he could discuss them privately with Board 236 
Members.  Board Member Moore stated that they attempted multiple times to contact Ms. 237 
Bordelove, at one point he even went to the AG’s office and sat for four hours and was finally able 238 
to speak to AG Ford.   Board Member Lee called for the vote. All were in favor, motion passed; 239 
Board Member Moore abstained.  240 
 241 

*b.   Discussion and consideration of possible Board members appointments to perform the  242 
duties of Preliminary Screening Consultant on an interim basis and the rate of pay for the 243 
performance of such duties – NRS 631.180 and 631.190 (For Possible Action)  244 

 245 
Mr. DiMaggio stated that this item was to consider appointing Board Members to act as the 246 
Preliminary Screening Consultants on an interim basis.    He noted that thought the board approved 247 
the position, but they have yet to receive any applications since posting the job opportunity notice 248 
to the Board’s website.  Mr. DiMaggio gave a brief outline of what the duties for the position would 249 
be and the pay rate.  250 
 251 

MOTION:  Board Member Lee motioned to approve that Board Members can perform the 252 
duties of the Preliminary Screening Consultants on an interim basis.  Board 253 
Member West seconded the motion.  Discussion: Board Member Lemon stated 254 
that he was concerned with the public perception.  He clarified that he was 255 
concerned with the Board appointing one another for a paid board position, and 256 
that this may have a bad perception with the general public.  Board Member 257 
Lemon suggested posting the position to additional sites aside from the Board’s 258 
website.  Board Member Thompson stated that he had similar concerns as Board 259 
Member Lemon, and the perception is his main reason why he hesitates to 260 
moving forward with the Board Members temporarily reviewing the complaints.  261 
Board Member Lee stated that it was the DSO’s that were in question and 262 
referred the Board to NRS 631.190(2), which he read into the record.  Additional 263 
discussion ensued regarding the previous use of DSO’s and some of the concerns 264 
addressed in the Legislative audit, and that if the board members were to be 265 
temporarily assigned this task, they would all be rotated so that they would not be 266 
getting preferential treatment or have the appearance of preferential treatment.  267 

Page 7



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 6 
 

It was noted that there was currently a backlog of complaints and that they 268 
needed to help the process move forward.  Board Member Moore stated that this 269 
position was to distill information already gathered, provide a summary and 270 
opinion of the information obtained, and that there was no requirement to go to 271 
the offices or contact anyone.  There was discussion regarding the approximate 272 
number of cases that were backlogged, and Board Member Park inquired if any 273 
complaints were COVID-19 related.  Mr. Su there were some complaints that 274 
COVID-19 related.  There was additional discussion regarding the Board serving as 275 
temporary preliminary screening consultants.  Board Member West concurred 276 
with Board Member Thompson that the board was working hard to try and 277 
appear more correct than their predecessors. Mr. Su stated that NRS 631.180 limits 278 
the salary of Board members, and stated that it was something the Board could 279 
consider, as far as paying board members a reduced rate.   Board Member Lee 280 
amended his motion to pay board members the max amount of $150 per case 281 
reviewed.  Board Member Park seconded the amended motion.  All were in 282 
favor, motion passed.  Board Member Lemon opposed.    283 

 284 
 285 
 286 
          *c.  Discussion, consideration, and possible approval of the Board’s delegation of authority to  287 
                 the Executive Director to appoint Board members to perform duties of the Preliminary  288 
                 Screening Consultant on an interim basis – NRS 631.190 (For Possible Action) 289 
 290 
Board Member Moore stated that this would grant the Executive Director the authority to rotate the 291 
selection of Board Members to review pending cases.   292 
 293 

MOTION:  Board Member Lee made the motion to approve to delegate the authority to the 294 
Executive Director to appoint Board Members to perform the duties of the 295 
Preliminary Screening Consultant on an interim basis.  Board Member West 296 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  Board Member Lemon 297 
abstained from the motion.   298 

 299 
 300 
 301 
          *d.   Contracts – NRS 631.190 (For Possible Action) 302 
 303 

           *(1) Discussion, consideration, and possible approval/rejection of Legislative, Legal, and 304 
Dental Practice Committee’s recommendation of Legislative Representative (For Possible 305 
Action) 306 

 307 
(a) Lewis Roca – Alfred Alonso  308 

 309 
Board Member Moore stated that Mr. Alonso came with high recommendations, and noted that 310 
the firm came with the most connections.  He added that Mr. Alonso was vetted through the 311 
Legislative, Legal, and Dental Practice Committee.  Mr. Alonso was present and presented himself 312 
to the Board, and gave a brief introductory speech to the Board and how he hopes to help the 313 
make Board make strides in the right direction.   314 
 315 

MOTION:  Board Member Lee made the motion to approve Lewis Roca – Mr. Alfredo Alonso 316 
– as the lobbyist.   Board Member West seconded the motion.  All were in favor, 317 
motion seconded.   318 

 319 
 320 
/// 321 
 322 
/// 323 

Page 8



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 7 
 

           *e. Discussion, consideration, and possible approval of Legislative, Legal, and Dental Practice 324 
Committee’s recommendation to approve granting authority to the Board’s 325 
Secretary/Treasurer to execute and approve contract for legislative services (For Possible 326 
Action)   327 

 328 
Mr. DiMaggio stated that this would grant the Secretary/Treasurer to execute and approve the 329 
contract, which would expedite the process in lieu of having to bring the contract back to the full 330 
board for review and approval.  He noted that the contract does have to be approved by the 331 
Board of Examiners and the importance of expediting the process was because the legislative 332 
session would be starting soon, and they need to have the legislative representative started 333 
immediately.  He stated that should the board approve this delegation, then he could draft the 334 
contract sooner than later and get the process started.   335 
 336 

MOTION:  Board Member Moore moved to accept the recommendation to authorize the 337 
Board’s Secretary/Treasurer to approve the contract for Legislative services.  338 
Board Member West seconded the motion.  Discussion: Board Member Thompson 339 
asked if the fees were representative to fees paid in previous years.  Board 340 
Member Lee stated that of the five lobbyists reviewed by the Committee, was 341 
one of the lowest.  Mr. Su stated that the board was previously paying 342 
approximately $3.600 a month.  Board Member Lemon inquired if the method of 343 
doing business was vetted by the AG’s office.  Mr. Su stated that by outsourcing it 344 
to an experienced lobbyist, it would avoid them having to consider hiring an 345 
employee to do this work when this work is not needed every year, but only when 346 
there is a legislative session.  Mr. DiMaggio stated that the DAG would have to 347 
sign off on the contract further down the process.  Mr. Su noted that they did 348 
review all candidates being considered to serve as the Board’s lobbyist to ensure 349 
that they were not representing other entities that would have colliding interests 350 
with the Board.   351 

 352 
           *f.  Approval/Rejection of Anesthesia-Temporary Permit – NAC 631.2254 (For Possible Action) 353 
 354 

(1) General Anesthesia (For Possible Action) 355 
 356 
(a) Jordan M Swarbrick, DDS 357 
(b) Kevin M Nowins, DMD  358 
(c) Christopher Chan, DDS, MD 359 

 360 
Board Member Moore stated that he had reviewed the application, all met the criteria for a permit, 361 
and that he recommended approval.   362 
 363 

MOTION:  Board Member Thompson made the motion to approve. Board Member West 364 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  365 

 366 
(2) Moderate Sedation (pediatric specialty) (For Possible Action) 367 

 368 
(a) Audrey H Nghiem, DDS 369 
(b) Weston J. Milne, DMD 370 
(c) Jacqueline A. Alford, DMD 371 

 372 
Board Member noted that there is a site evaluation done, but in order to do that, the applicant 373 
being evaluated must have a permit to administer, which is why the Board issues a temporary 374 
permit.   375 
 376 

MOTION:  Board Member Lemon made the motion to approve.  Board Member Park 377 
seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.  378 

 379 

Page 9



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 8 
 

           *g.  Approval/Rejection of Anesthesia – Permanent Permit – NAC 631.2235(2) (For Possible Action) 380 
    381 

(1) General Anesthesia (For Possible Action) 382 
(a) Gary H Wilcox Jr., DMD 383 

  384 
Board Member Moore stated that the site evaluations had been completed and recommended 385 
approval of a permanent permit for Dr. Wilcox.  386 
 387 

MOTION:  Board Member Thompson made the motion to approve the permanent permit for 388 
Dr. Wilcox.  Board Member West seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion 389 
passed.  390 

(2)  Moderate Sedation (patients 13years of age & older) (For Possible Action) 391 
  392 

(a) Jong M Um, DDS 393 
(b) Kostika Polena, DMD 394 

                               395 
Board Member Moore stated that the site evaluations had been completed and recommended 396 
approval of a permanent permit for Dr. Um and Dr. Polena.  397 
 398 

MOTION:  Board Member Thompson made the motion to approve the permanent permit for 399 
Dr. Um and Dr. Polena.  Board Member Lemon seconded the motion.  All were in 400 
favor, motion passed.  401 

 402 
 403 
           *h.  Discussion, consideration, and possible approval/rejection, of the Continuing Education 404 

Committee’s recommendation to deny the retroactive approval requested by the Pacific 405 
Training Institute for Facial Aesthetics for their Level 1, 2, & 4 (total 72-unit program) 406 
approved by the Board on April 30, 2020  (For Possible Action) 407 

 408 
Board Member Lemon stated that the issue was broader than just this one course, as it was 409 
regarding a request for retro-active approval in general.  He stated that this would set a precedent 410 
for retro-active approval for course credits if they approved this one course.  He noted that the 411 
Board did approve the course, but they did not approve the candidates that completed the 412 
course prior to the approval date.  He questions if the Board wanted to set a precedent for other 413 
courses if they did approve the course retro-active approval. Board Member Moore explained to 414 
the Board that the situation was that the company requested for approval of their course, which 415 
was approved by the board; however, he stated that PTIFA was now asking for retroactive 416 
approval for anyone that took the course well before the course was approved by the board.  417 
Board Member West commented that if someone spent the time and money to take a course that 418 
was not approved by Nevada, then he would agree with Board Member Lemon to not set a 419 
precedent.  Board Member Solie stated that she agreed that the course may not have been the 420 
same parameters that they were teaching prior to their approval, and agreed that the Board 421 
should not set a precedent.   422 
 423 

MOTION:  Board Member Lee made the motion to deny the request for retroactive 424 
approval. Board Member West seconded the motion.  All were in favor, motion 425 
passed.   426 

 427 
 428 
 429 
/// 430 
 431 
/// 432 
 433 

Page 10



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 9 
 

          *i.   Discussion and consideration of the Continuing Education Committee’s recommendation 434 
for approval of the temporary approval and acceptance of the use of manikins by 435 
American Board of Dental Examiners’ (ADEX) for the Dental Periodontal Scaling Exercise 436 
portion of the ADEX dental exam for dental licensure and for the ADEX dental hygiene 437 
clinical examination for dental hygiene licensure if completed during the period of May 1, 438 
2020 through December 31, 2020, and possible approval/rejection of temporary approval 439 
and acceptance of such – NRS 631.240 and NRS 631.300  (For Possible Action) 440 

 441 
 442 
Board Member Lemon gave a brief synopsis of the recommendation being made by the 443 
committee regarding the ADEX exam.  He noted that the CompeDont tooth that had been 444 
developed for manikin testing was one of the better examples of teeth that can test the student’s 445 
ability.  He noted that should the board move to patient-less exams, then the companies would 446 
switch their focus to improving the manikins.  There was discussion that companies would strive to 447 
improve a product if they saw the demand increase to meet the needs by state boards.  The 448 
companies he referred to were both the CDCA (ADEX) and the WREB.   There was discussion 449 
regarding the push towards manikin based exams during COVID-19, the restriction of the use of live 450 
patients, and how UNLV was now seeing patients during this time.  Board Member Lee inquired why 451 
then could they not administer patient based exams if the school of dental medicine was currently 452 
seeing patients while abiding by extra measure to help mitigate the spread of COVID-19.  Lengthy 453 
discussion ensued regarding the clinical exams being patient based and manikin based, and 454 
concerns that board members have with students completing a manikin based exam.  Board 455 
Member Lemon challenged the Board to be bold and change direction and move towards a 456 
patient-less exam.  He advocated for the students and the money they spend just to complete their 457 
degree and become licensed.  Board Member Park stated that the Board does not represent the 458 
dental students; they represent the State of Nevada. She added that she had no problem passing 459 
this in the interim.    460 
 461 

MOTION:  Board Member Lee motioned to approve item (i) the temporary approval of the 462 
ADEX exam to grant applicants with a temporary license, and upon the state of 463 
emergency being lifted, they will need to complete the live patient portion of the 464 
clinical exam in order to receive a full unrestricted license.   Board Member 465 
Lemon strongly disagreed with the issuance of a temporary license based on the 466 
fees alone, and questioned if Board Member Lee knew what the fees and costs 467 
were to take the exam.  He added the burden this would add to the students 468 
already dealing with debt.  Board Member Lee stated that is was not his problem.  469 
Board Member Lemon stated that he could see that Board Member Lee did not 470 
care, but that the students were their constituents.  Board Member Lee stated 471 
that he was only requiring that they complete the clinical portion.  He 472 
commented that the purpose of the Board was to safety of the public not for 473 
dental students.  Board Member West commented that while Board Member 474 
Lemon was an amazing advocate, the dental students chose to take on the debt 475 
when they signed up for dental school, and they chose the path they are on.   476 
Board Member West stated that he was in agreement with Board Member Lee, 477 
where they give the students a temporary license but they will have to go back to 478 
complete the clinical portion of the exam that is live patient based.  Board 479 
Member Lee stated that the fees for completing the manikin based exams should 480 
be less than what they pay for the live patient based exam portion.  Board 481 
Member West seconded the motion.  Dr. Moore asked Mr. Su if there was a 482 
motion on the table. Board Member Lee reiterated his motion for temporary 483 
approval, through December 31, 2020, for acceptance of non-patient based 484 
ADEX exam for a temporary license until the vaccine goes away or ADEX can 485 
give a patient-based clinical exam portion.  Dr. Moore inquired if ADEX were able 486 

Page 11



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 10 
 

to bring their Compedont examination up to the level of non-patient based exam 487 
as referred by Dr. Lemon, is there a time frame that the temporary license would 488 
be good for, or would the board need to reevaluate that. Mr. Su stated that they 489 
would have to reopen up the agenda item to change the December date.  Mr. 490 
Su also noted that Dr. Lee’s motion did not specify how long the temporary 491 
license would be in force. Mr. DiMaggio noted that the prior temporary license 492 
authorized by the Board would be effective through 90 days after the Governor 493 
declares an end to the pandemic. Board Member Lee so amended his motion.  494 
Board Member West seconded the amended motion.  Ms. Solie requested that 495 
motion on table be repeated. Mr. Su stated that the motion was to temporarily 496 
approve and accept the use of manikins by ADEX for the dental hygiene and 497 
dental periodontal scaling portion of ADEX if completed from May 1, 2020 498 
through December 31, 2020, with a temporary license until the Governor declares 499 
an end to COVID-19 pandemic, or otherwise lift restrictions that are currently in 500 
place. Upon that occurring, licensees will have to complete a patient based 501 
clinical examination.  All were in favor, motion passed.   502 

 503 
 504 
 505 
          *j.  Discussion and consideration of the Continuing Education Committee’s recommendation 506 

for  approval of the temporary approval and acceptance of the restorative procedures in 507 
the American Board of Dental Examiners’ (ADEX) exam for dental licensure to be 508 
completed on either a live patient or the CompeDont tooth during the period of May 1, 509 
2020 through December 31, 2020,  and possible approval/rejection of temporary approval 510 
and acceptance of such – NRS 631.240  (For Possible Action) 511 

 512 
 513 

MOTION:  Board Member Park made the motion to temporarily approve and accept the 514 
ADEX restorative procedures in the ADEX exam for dental licensure to be 515 
completed on the CompeDont tooth if taken May 1, 2020 through December 31, 516 
2020, which will grant applicants with a temporary license until the Governor 517 
declares an end to COVID-19 pandemic, or otherwise lift restrictions that are 518 
currently in place. Upon that occurring, licensees will have to complete a patient 519 
based clinical examination.  Board Member West seconded the motion.  All were 520 
in favor, motion passed.  521 

 522 
Board Member Moore wanted it clarified that if applicants were to take the live patient exam 523 
initially, that they would be granted a full unrestricted license.  Mr. Su responded affirmatively.   524 
 525 
 526 
 527 
         *k   Review, discussion, and consideration of updates to CDC Guidance for Dental Settings, 528 

and possible approval/rejection of the same – NAC 631.178  (For Possible Action) 529 
 530 

(1) August 4, 2020 CDC Update 531 
(2) August 28, 2020 CDC Update 532 

 533 
Board Member Moore stated that he would like a motion to forward this item to the IC Committee. 534 
 535 

MOTION:  Board Member Lee made the motion to have the IC committee review the 536 
August CDC guidelines for further guidance.  Board Member McIntyre seconded 537 
the motion.  All were in favor, motion passed.   538 

 539 

Page 12



 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 11 
 

Board Member Park commented to those listening to the meeting, that if they have questions 540 
regarding these updates that the CDC authors’ have an email address where they are welcome to 541 
use to ask for clarification, which is a direct resource for licensees.  Board Member Moore asked Mr. 542 
DiMaggio to post to the Board’s website the email that Board Member Park was referring to by the 543 
next morning.  Board Member called for the motion again.  All were in favor, motion passed. 544 
 545 
 546 
  7.  Public Comment (live public comment by teleconference):  This public comment period is for any 547 

matter that is within the jurisdiction of the public body.  No action may be taken upon the matter raised during public comment unless 548 
the matter itself has been specifically included on the agenda as an action item.  Comments by the public may be limited to three 549 
minutes as a reasonable time, place and manner restriction, but may not be limited based upon viewpoint.  The Chairperson may allow 550 
additional time at his/her discretion.  551 

 552 
Pursuant to Section 2 of Directive 006, and extended by Directives 016, 018, 021, 026, and 029, members of the public may participate in 553 
the meeting without being physically present by submitting public comment via email to nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov, or by mailing/faxing 554 
written messages to the Board office. Written submissions should be received by the Board on or before Monday, September 14, 2020 555 
by 4:00 p.m. in order to make copies available to members and the public.   556 

 557 
In accordance with Attorney General Opinion No. 00-047, as restated in the Attorney General’s Open Meeting Law Manual, the Chair 558 
may prohibit comment if the content of that comment is a topic that is not relevant to, or within the authority of, the Nevada State 559 
Board of Dental Examiners, or if the content is willfully disruptive of the meeting by being irrelevant, repetitious, slanderous, offensive, 560 
inflammatory, irrational, or amounting to personal attacks or interfering with the rights of other speakers.  561 

 562 
Natalia Hill was called upon to submit her comment, but no comment was given.    563 
 564 
Dr. Bill Pappas commented that while he appreciated the Board approving the ADEX exam on a 565 
temporary basis, he agreed with the sentiments of Board Member Lemon.  He stated that the ADEX 566 
CompeDont exam is administered in exactly the same way the patient exam is administered, and 567 
that the examinees would have to pay for an entirely new examination when they take the patient 568 
based exam because the costs incurred by the testing agencies are the same. Dr. Pappas opined 569 
that the board might have done something they had not intended to do and asked the Board to 570 
give the decision serious consideration.  He noted that the Compedont was not created due to 571 
COVID-19, but had been in development for over three years at an expense of over $600,000. Their 572 
simulated patient examination committee had just met and made new improvements, and they 573 
were committed to the CompeDont exam. He noted that they were not forcing any state to utilize 574 
the new examination, but that there is a wave of approvals for the exam. For example, 575 
Connecticut has already outlawed patient-based exams for 2021. He again asked for 576 
reconsideration of the decision as it did not appear to be something the board intended to do. He 577 
went onto to discuss the patient based exam and the CompeDont variances and similarities.  He 578 
thanked the Board for their time and hoped that the Board would revisit the matter.  Board 579 
Member Moore stated to Dr. Pappas that he was going to have Mr. DiMaggio send him a link for 580 
the CDCA’s review.   581 
 582 
Telephone number ending in 6077 was called upon to comment, but no comment was made.   583 
 584 
Mark Christensen with WREB commented that while WREB was not part of the discussion, he noted 585 
that the exams are a work in progress and they continue to be developed and improved.  He 586 
agreed with the sentiments of Board Member Lemon.  He added that in 2021 they will be 587 
introducing manikin based simulations for dental hygiene, as well as variable components for 588 
scaling and root planing.  He offered to give a presentation, if the Board would like them to.  He 589 
stated that WREB would be very supportive in providing information that may be helpful.   590 
 591 
Telephone number ending in 6077 was called upon again to comment, but no comment was 592 
made.   593 
 594 
 595 
 596 

Page 13

mailto:nsbde@nsbde.nv.gov


 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners – Board Teleconference Meeting – Tuesday, September 15, 2020 Page 12 
 

  8.  Announcements 597 
 598 
There were no announcements.  599 
 600 
*9.  Adjournment (For Possible Action) 601 
 602 
Board Member Moore called for a motion to adjourn.   603 
 604 
MOTION: Board Member Lee made the motion to adjourn the meeting at approximately 8:26 p.m. 605 
Motion seconded by Board Member Thompson. All were in favor of the motion, motion passed.    606 
 607 
 608 

Respectfully submitted:  609 
 610 

_____________________________________ 611 
Frank DiMaggio, Executive Director 612 

Page 14



Memorandum 
Temporary License 

Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Memorandum 
Unrestricted Temporary License

Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Memorandum
Extended Date for Temporary 

Unrestricted Licenses signed by ADEX

Page 21



Page 22



Memorandum
Temporary Unrestricted Licenses signed by WREB 

(Dental) 

Page 23



Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

6010 S. Rainbow Blvd., Bldg. A, Ste.1 • Las Vegas, NV 89118 • (702) 486-7044 • (800) DDS-EXAM • Fax (702) 486-7046 

To: 
From: 
Re: 

Date: 

MEMORANDUM 

All Dentist Licensees and Licensure Applicants 
Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 
Temporary Approval and Acceptance of Use of Manakins by Western Regional 
Examining Board (WREB) for Temporary Unrestricted Dental License 
October 15, 2020 

At its October 8, 2020 Board Meeting, the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (NSBDE) 
considered recommendations from its Continuing Education Committee to temporarily approve 
and accept use of manakins for the Dental Periodontal Scaling Exercise portion of the Western 
Regional Examining Board ("WREB") dental exam (NRS 631.240) 1• 

The NSBDE voted to accept the recommendations and approve use of those clinical alternatives 
by awarding a temporary unrestricted dentist license to dentist applicants who submit passing 
WREB manakin-based dental clinical exam results, if the examinations are completed during the 
period from May 1, 2020 through June 30, 2021. 

Therefore, pursuant to powers set forth under NRS 631.240 and NRS 631.300, the NSBDE will 
issue temporary unrestricted licenses upon a properly completed application and submission of 
proof of successful completion of non-patient WREB dental clinical examination. 

All temporary unrestricted licenses shall expire ninety (90) days after the Governor rescinds the 
declared state of emergency for COVID-19, at which time a patient-based clinical examination 
must be successfully completed in order for a temporary unrestricted license to be converted to a 
full license. 

Any provision ofNAC 631.090 in conflict with the above provisions relating to temporary 
unrestricted licenses are hereby temporarily suspended until ninety (90) days after the Governor 
rescinds the declared state of emergency for COVID-19. 

�oore,DDS
President
Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners
Dated: October/ .J, 2020

1 
The 10/8/20 board agenda did not include consideration of the CE committee's recommendation to accept the 

WREB's Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE} for Dental Hygiene, which will be considered at a future 

board meeting. 

Page 24



 Dental Hygiene

Agenda Item (6)(a) 

WREB - OSCE Exam 

Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



WREB Dental Hygiene 

Objective Structured Clinical Examination: 

COVID-19 Interim Dental Hygiene Examination 

Psychometric Overview 

July 10, 2020 

Page 31



ii 
 

WREB Dental Hygiene Objective Structured Clinical Examination: 

COVID-19 Interim Dental Hygiene Examination 

Psychometric Overview 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

          Page 

List of Tables ......................................................................................................................  iii 

List of Figures ....................................................................................................................  iv 

Introduction ………...........................................................................................................  1 

Background and Overview of the Interim Examination ...............................................  1 

Examination Development ...............................................................................................  3 

Test Specifications .............................................................................................................  4 

Standard Setting ................................................................................................................  6 

Administration and Security ............................................................................................ 11 

Remediation ....................................................................................................................... 12 

Interim Social Distancing and Infection Prevention Protocol ...................................... 12 

Subject Matter Expert Review of 2020 Test Items ......................................................... 14 

Survey of Subject Matter Expert Review Participants .................................................. 15 

Field Testing ....................................................................................................................... 17 

Survey of Field-Test Examinees ....................................................................................... 20 

Technical Quality .............................................................................................................. 23 

References .......................................................................................................................... 31 

Page 32



iii 
 

LIST OF TABLES 

          Page 

  Table 1   Dental Hygiene OSCE 2020: Percentage of Questions 

 within Content Domains ..................................................................................  6 

Table 2   Subject Matter Expert Review Mean Proportion Correct Values 

 by Committee Predicted Difficulty Category, with 95%  

 Confidence Interval Upper and Lower Bound Values .................................... 15 

Table 3   Student Field-Test Mean Proportion Correct Values 

 by Committee Predicted Difficulty Category, with 95%  

 Confidence Interval Upper and Lower Bound Values .................................... 19 

Table 4   DH OSCE Student Field-Test Survey Questions 1, 2, and 8,  

 with Unanimous Response .............................................................................. 20 

Table 5   Candidate Mean Proportion Correct Values 

 by Committee Predicted Difficulty Category, with 95%  

 Confidence Interval Upper and Lower Bound Values .................................... 23 

Table 6   DH OSCE Item Statistics by Test Form .......................................................... 26 

Table 7     DH OSCE Content Areas by Test Form .......................................................... 27 

Table 8   ANOVA Results for Ability Parameters, Raw Scores, 

 and Scale Scores by DH OSCE Test Form ...................................................... 27 

Table 9   Indicators of Overall Test Functioning by DH OSCE Test Form .................... 29 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 33



iv 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 

         Page 

Figure 1a Proportion of different responses to SME Survey Question 1 ...................... 16 

Figure 1b Proportion of different responses to SME Survey Question 2 ...................... 16 

Figure 2a Proportion of different responses to SME Survey Question 3 ...................... 17 

Figure 2b Proportion of different responses to SME Survey Question 4 ...................... 17 

Figure 3a Error bar graph for SME item proportion correct by  

 estimated difficulty category ........................................................................ 20 

Figure 3b Error bar graph for student field-test examinee item proportion 

 correct by estimated difficulty category ....................................................... 20 

Figure 4a Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 3 ............. 21 

Figure 4b Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 4 ............. 21 

Figure 5a Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 5 ............. 22 

Figure 5b Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 6 ............. 22 

Figure 6 Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 7 ............. 22 

Figure 7a Error bar graph for SME item proportion correct by  

 estimated difficulty category ........................................................................ 24 

Figure 7b Error bar graph for student field-test examinee item proportion 

 correct by estimated difficulty category ....................................................... 24 

Figure 7a Error bar graph for candidate proportion correct by  

 estimated difficulty category ........................................................................ 24 

 

 

 

Page 34



1 
 
 

WREB Dental Hygiene Objective Structured Clinical Examination: 

COVID-19 Interim Dental Hygiene Examination 

 

Psychometric Overview 

 

Introduction 

Results from standardized assessments are one source of evidence used by licensing bodies 

to make decisions about a candidate's readiness for practice. Licensing examinations must be 

developed and administered in a valid, reliable, and legally defensible manner. The purpose of this 

report is to provide test users with an overview of descriptive and technical documentation 

regarding the nature and quality of the WREB Interim Dental Hygiene Examination to support 

inferences based on examination results. 

WREB examinations are developed, administered, and scored in accordance with the 

Standards for Educational and Psychological Testing (AERA, APA, & NCME; 2014) and 

Guidance for Clinical Licensure Examinations in Dentistry (AADB, 2005). An overview and 

description of activities conducted to evaluate the technical quality of the WREB Interim Dental 

Hygiene Examination, including psychometric and statistical results of field-testing and initial 

administration. Details of additional activities and research studies relevant to the interim 

examination are also maintained and available for review by test users, test takers, and other 

stakeholders. 

 

Background and Overview of the Interim Examination 

The advent of health risks due to the COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2) virus and the social-

distancing directives that have been in place since March of 2020 has put pressure on many state 

licensing boards to consider temporary alternatives to the traditional patient-based dental 

examination. Several state licensing boards have requested that WREB propose temporary 

examination alternatives that could be administered during the COVID-19 crisis. 

WREB has been researching and evaluating the validity and viability of alternatives to 

patient-based assessment for several years. For example, two non-patient-based alternatives to 

WREB’s standard, patient-based Dental Hygiene Examination, 1) a computer-based alternative 

assessment that can approximate the critical thinking and decisions involved in clinical practices, 

Page 35



2 
 
 

and 2) a clinic-based typodont simulation employing custom-designed materials, are currently in 

development and undergoing review. WREB had not planned to implement any assessment 

alternative during the 2020 dental hygiene examination season. 

WREB’s view at this time is that a clinic-based typodont simulation would not be a 

sufficiently valid and defensible alternative. Even if a simulation with adequate fidelity was 

available, now, students will not have had ample opportunity to prepare for the new medium. 

WREB will continue to research and evaluate the viability of a typodont simulation alternative and 

may offer a dental hygiene simulation option in the future when the validity of a more realistic and 

involved simulation can be demonstrated. 

Given the requests for temporary alternatives due to restrictions and limitations on patient-

based examination posed by COVID-19, however, WREB has accelerated the development of a 

computer-based examination that assesses the appropriate clinical judgments and interpretations 

required in clinic-based patient treatment. The Interim Dental Hygiene Examination will assess a 

candidate’s ability to make correct treatment decisions and think critically within a clinical context.  

WREB maintains the position that a dental hygiene examination that does not include a 

patient-based evaluation component remains limited with respect to fidelity, which is a critical 

type of validity evidence. A computer-based examination cannot directly assess the cognitive 

motor coordination and instrumentation skills required to effectively treat a patient. However, the 

Interim Dental Hygiene Examination that WREB has developed can evaluate, in a comprehensive 

and reliable manner, the application and execution of judgments, techniques, and behaviors 

involved in patient care and promoted in the Standards for Clinical Dental Hygiene Practice 

(ADHA, 2016). The Interim Dental Hygiene Examination that WREB is offering for 2020 is 

intended to be a provisional solution for COVID-19 only and is intended neither to replace 

WREB's standard patient-based Dental Hygiene Examination for states that continue to require it 

nor to be a final version of other non-patient-based alternative examinations that remain in 

development. 

The Interim Dental Hygiene Examination is a comprehensive, computer-based Objective 

Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE) format that employs images and radiographs to replicate 

authentic oral conditions and clinical situations. The test format name, OSCE, was given to station-

based examinations used in medical schools in in the 1970s (Harden, Stevenson, Downie, and 

Wilson, 1975). At the time, the format allowed a standardized assessment of student knowledge at 

Page 36



3 
 
 

a time when a) few models of performance-based standardized testing existed and b) the technical 

capabilities of evaluating human raters (i.e., examiners) was limited by the lack of modern 

computing. Recent assessments adopting features of the OSCE format (e.g., the American Dental 

Association’s DLOSCE [2020]) do not employ physical stations, but present images and situations 

exclusively via computer. The word “objective” in the format label refers to the manner of 

examinee response, which is multiple choice or variations of multiple choice where multiple 

responses are required. The term “objective” (meant as an opposite of “subjective”) is no longer 

used in this manner in the testing profession, since the fairness and validity of performance-based 

tests has been demonstrated successfully since the late 1970’s. Multiple-choice and other selected-

response testing formats can underrepresent content by not assessing skills and abilities that are 

critical to determining minimal competence in a profession that depends on physical and cognitive 

motor abilities. 

The development of WREB’s Dental Hygiene OSCE (DH OSCE) has drawn on decades 

of experience with creating innovative and reliable computer-based assessments and has 

transformed clinical situations and presentations into visual stimuli and realistic situations that can, 

at least, reflect many critical aspects of clinical practice with a high degree of fidelity during this 

time when patient-based testing may not be possible. The DH OSCE can serve as a temporary 

replacement for the standard Dental Hygiene Examination while the challenges posed by COVID-

19 limit patient-based options.  

The following sections will describe several aspects of the DH OSCE, including 

examination development, dental hygiene content assessed, standard setting, field testing, 

technical quality, and procedures reflecting the additional precautions required to minimize 

exposure to the COVID-19 virus. 

 

Examination Development 

The DH OSCE examination committee was appointed by the Board of Directors in April 

of 2020 in response to calls for alternative examination options during conditions imposed by 

COVID-19. The committee was charged with developing a valid and reliable computer-based 

examination focused on the assessment of clinical judgments and abilities in dental hygiene 

candidates. The committee is comprised of four practicing dental hygienists with experience as 

state board members and two dental hygiene educators. The interruption in committee members’ 

Page 37



4 
 
 

daily ability to practice dental hygiene or teach in a clinical environment, prompted by COVID-

19, allowed the committee to conduct frequent virtual meetings within the accelerated timeline via 

remote collaboration software. 

The committee developed test specifications to align with aspects of clinical practice that 

were judged as frequent and important in the most recent dental hygiene practice analysis 

conducted (WREB, 2020a). The selected-response format of the DH OSCE, while limited with 

respect to direct evaluation of clinical performance, allows for assessment of a broader and more 

standardized range of clinically-oriented content, including appropriate selection of hand and 

powered instruments, optimal determination of techniques, patient risk assessment, and 

management of emergency situations. The committee was able to draw on a large bank of images, 

radiographs, and authentic patient situations, as well as a bank of over 1,600 previously 

administered selected-response items that ran from 2011 to 2014 on the WREB Dental Hygiene 

Process of Care examination.  The Process of Care examination (WREB, 2016) is an interactive 

computer-based examination that requires developing comprehensive dental hygiene care plans 

and answering questions related to two in-depth patient cases. Committee members modified 

existing items and developed new questions to ensure sufficient content coverage for the DH 

OSCE. 

 

Test Specifications 

The Interim Dental Hygiene Examination is comprised of multiple-choice items that assess 

aspects of dental hygiene practice that are important for entry-level dental hygienists entering the 

profession, with an emphasis on clinic-based practices and abilities. Each content category 

contains sub-categories that align with professional practices and reflect frequent and important 

practices that appear in the most recent dental hygiene practice analysis (WREB, 2020a). The 

examination requires candidates to think critically and demonstrate entry-level competency in 

several areas that are essential for the safe treatment of patients in a clinical setting. The following 

six content categories reflect the components of dental hygiene care that are tested on the 

examination. 

1. Medical History.  Includes medical history interpretation, recognition of systemic 

conditions (i.e. diabetes, autoimmune diseases) blood pressure guidelines, HbA1c values, 

and chief complaint.  

Page 38



5 
 
 

 

2. Risk Assessment. Includes prevention, recognition and management of possible 

complications, risk factors (smoking, caries), and ASA Classification of Disease.  

 

3. Extraoral and Intraoral Assessment.  Includes rationale for completing an assessment, 

recognition of normal and atypical conditions, proper recording and documentation, and 

assessment of intraoral findings.  

 

4. Periodontal Assessment. Includes application of 2017 AAP guidelines for Staging and 

Grading (AAP, 2017), periodontal and peri-implant diseases, and conditions (modifying 

and non-modifying). Also includes identification and classification of furcation and 

mobility, generalized and localized conditions, clinical attachment, and utilization of local 

anesthesia during non-surgical periodontal therapy. Periodontal probe measurement is 

assessed utilizing intraoral images. The DH OSCE Candidate Guide (WREB, 2020b) notes 

that candidates must be familiar with the University of North Carolina (UNC) 1-12 mm 

periodontal probe. Additional aspects of periodontal assessment that are evaluated include:  

 Dentition Evaluation. Recognition of factors contributing to occlusal 

trauma. Etiologies of abscesses. 

 Radiographic Interpretation. Assessment of radiographic findings utilizing 

images and identification of severity and types of interproximal radiographic 

bone loss.  

 

5. Dental Hygiene Treatment and Care Plan. Includes Dental Hygiene Diagnosis and 

rationale, recommendation, and implementation of treatment (dental hygiene care plan, 

non-surgical periodontal therapy, surgical phase). Also included are recommendations 

regarding interdental aids, desensitizing agents, fluoride, and tooth whitening, as well as 

assessment and documentation of outcomes and proper referral.  

 

6. Instrumentation. Included are basic instrumentation and ultrasonic technique (correct 

adaptation, activation), e.g., correct power settings, cavitation of power units, 

Page 39



6 
 
 

implementation, and rationale for implant scalers (types), air and rubber cup polishing, and 

self-assessment and management of tissue during dental hygiene treatment. 

 

The proportion of questions within each content area was determined by the examination 

committee outlining critical sub-topics to be assessed within each content area. Percentages per 

content area correspond to the raw weighted categorization from the most recent dental hygiene 

practice analysis but were adjusted to reflect the committee’s desire to ensure assessment of clinic-

oriented practices. All categories are within 0 to 4 percentage points away from the practice 

analysis weights (i.e., 11%, 12%, 5%, 26%, 35%, and 11% for the six categories, respectively) 

except for Instrumentation, which is weighted higher to account for the need to enhance assessment 

of instrumentation skills in lieu of patient-based examination, and Dental Hygiene Treatment and 

Care Plan, which is weighted lower, given that professional knowledge in this area is addressed 

on the National Board Dental Hygiene Examination (JCNDE, 2019). The content domains are 

represented on the examination according to the percentages listed in Table 1.  

 

Table 1. Dental Hygiene OSCE 2020: Percentage of Questions within Content Domains 

Content Domain Percentage 

Medical History 13% 

Risk Assessment 12% 

Extraoral and Intraoral Assessment 6% 

Periodontal Assessment 30% 

Dental Hygiene Treatment and Care Plan 20% 

Instrumentation 19% 

 

 

Standard Setting 

The process of setting the passing standard must be credible, legally defensible, and well-

informed, to protect the public as well as the rights of candidates. The Standards for Educational 

and Psychological Testing (AERA, APA, & NCME, 2014) state that passing standards should be 

high, in order to protect the public and the profession by excluding unqualified individuals, but not 

Page 40



7 
 
 

so high as to “unduly restrain the right of qualified individuals to offer their services to the public” 

(p.175). 

Standard 11.16 in the current Standards for Testing states that the "level of performance 

required for passing a credentialing test should depend on the knowledge and skills necessary for 

credential-worthy performance in the occupation or profession and should not be adjusted to 

regulate the number or proportion of persons passing the test" (p. 182; AERA, APA, & NCME, 

2014). The passing standards set by WREB examination committees are set in accordance with 

the Standards for Testing and are absolute, or criterion-referenced. An absolute, or criterion-

referenced, standard is set to reflect a standard of knowledge and practice, meaning that, 

theoretically, all candidates could pass or all could fail when compared to an absolute standard. In 

practice, pass rates of 100% and 0% are unlikely when a credible and defensible passing standard 

has been set. For many credentialing examinations, the vast majority of candidates are very well-

prepared, so relatively high pass rates are not unusual. 

Passing scores on WREB examinations are set, and reviewed regularly, by WREB 

examination committees. The examination committee determines passing scores based on 

professional standards of content and practice, even when arbitrary cut scores have been legislated, 

such as “75%." A passing score should reflect minimal competence, not an arbitrary percentage. 

Setting a passing score at 75% without evidence to support that the level of performance 

corresponds clearly to minimal competence is not a credible, defensible standard for a 

credentialing test; 75% of a difficult test is not comparable to 75% of a less challenging test. Some 

states have acknowledged that setting a percentage for passing is not appropriate. For example, 

California has stated that "Boards, programs, bureaus, and divisions that have laws or regulations 

requiring a fixed passing percent score should seek to change the law or regulation to require a 

criterion-referenced passing score that is based on the minimal competence criteria" (California 

Department of Consumer Affairs, 2000, p. 6). Until all states reject arbitrary fixed passing 

percentages, WREB continues to re-scale some examination passing scores to be interpreted as 

"75"; however, the scores reflect the defensible passing standard set by the professional 

examination committee. 

At several sessions in May 2020 the DH OSCE examination committee engaged in a first 

round of standard setting to determine a preliminary passing score on the examination. In the final 

preparation of new and modified questions to be field-tested, the committee assessed each question 

Page 41



8 
 
 

according to Ebel's method (Ebel, 1972; Zieky, Perie, and Livingston, 2008). Ebel’s method 

involves each member independently assigning the test item to a category that reflects degree of 

professional relevance (e.g., essential) and degree of difficulty (i.e., the estimated probability of 

correct response by a minimally competent candidate) and then the committee comes to consensus 

regarding classifications for each item. For example, a test item might be judged to assess 

“essential” content and a minimally competent candidate should find it “easy” to select the correct 

response. Estimated probability values are weighted by relevance and applied to each test form to 

set a preliminary passing standard for field testing. Groups of items within each category are 

multiplied by pre-determined estimates of proportion correct and summed to set the preliminary 

standard. Once an adequate sample of data is acquired, the empirical values of proportion correct 

can be summed and compared with the original estimates for review by the committee. 

The modified and new items were “taken” and reviewed by subject matter experts and 

field-tested with dental hygiene students. Due to a very limited sample size for student field-

testing, results for the operational administration of the examination were held until data from a 

sufficiently large sample of candidates had been collected in order to conduct the final round of 

standard setting and re-confirm item quality.  

Comparisons between the committee’s Ebel estimates and empirical data collected from 

subject matter experts, student field-test examinees, and candidates after initial operational 

administration of the examination were reviewed. Analysis details for the comparisons are 

presented later in this document. 

Application of the preliminary passing score derived from the Ebel estimates to the student 

field-test data would have produced a very low passing percentage of 28.0%. When empirical 

difficulty values were categorized by the same categories as the original Ebel estimates, the 

corresponding passing score would result in a passing percentage of 56.0%. While these 

preliminary estimates of potential impact are severe, it was acknowledged that this could be due 

to a) the final test forms contained higher proportions of items that had been categorized into the 

“medium” and “difficult” categories and fewer that had been categorized as “easy,” b) the field-

test sample was small and may not have been representative of the larger candidate pool or as 

highly motivated as active candidates, and c) test scores reflected several test items that later 

received minor revisions, such as slight improvements to images or minor changes in language 

clarity (items that were replaced or revised significantly were not included in projecting passing 

Page 42



9 
 
 

percentages). Additional information and details regarding student field-testing results are 

provided later in this document. 

The final forms presented to active candidates during the initial administration of the 

examination were very similar to the forms taken by the students, except for ten items that were 

revised or replaced, and five items that were exchanged between forms to balance level of 

difficulty. One test item on each final form was left unscored due to technical inadequacy. 

Application of the preliminary passing score derived from the Ebel estimates to the initial 

administration candidate data would have produced a passing percentage of 86.0%. When 

empirical difficulty values were categorized by the same categories as the original Ebel estimates, 

the corresponding passing score would result in a passing percentage of 96.7%. A significant 

difference in candidate mean performance between the two initial administration sites was 

observed. If the Ebel-derived preliminary passing score were applied to the results at one of the 

sites (i.e., an exam site that comprised 40% of the total initial sample of candidates) the passing 

percentage would be 76.7% and the empirically-generated preliminary passing score would 

produce a passing score of 93.3%. 

The second round of standard setting included an item-mapping and “bookmark” approach 

to review and finalize the raw passing standard (e.g., Schulz, Kolen, and Nicewander, 1999; 

Mitzel, Lewis, Patz, and Green, 2001). Item-mapping involves the subject matter experts 

reviewing visual displays of assessment items separated by content and ordered by proportion 

correct or probability of correct response. Bookmarking involves independent review of 

collections of individual test items, ordered by degree of challenge. Both approaches are 

augmented with impact estimation (based on empirical data) for the final determination of the 

passing score, e.g., to resolve “ties” and/or ensure that subject matter experts judge the standard as 

fair and reasonable. 

The second round of  standard setting took place on July 2, 2020. The session was 

conducted via remote collaboration software to avoid infection risks associated with air travel. All 

six members of the examination committee participated, with attendance by three WREB staff 

including facilitation by the WREB psychometrician. When applicable, committee members 

communicated independent decisions via direct email to agency staff. 

Committee members reviewed the purpose of the standard setting session, discussed 

important features of a just minimally competent candidate, and reviewed results of analyses 

Page 43



10 
 
 

assessing the relationship among the original Ebel estimates, student field-test examinee 

performance and candidate performance. After reviewing item maps by detailed topic for the 

student field test results and initial administration candidate results, the committee members 

participated in a bookmark-style activity. 

The committee reviewed six different item lists, one per content category, that displayed 

examination questions ordered from least to most difficult. Questions represented difficulty values 

that ranged from more challenging than would correspond to the Ebel-derived passing score (i.e., 

would produce an estimated passing percentage of 76%) to less challenging than would correspond 

to the empirically-generated passing score (i.e., would produce an estimated passing percentage of 

100%). Committee members were instructed to independently choose one item, i.e., one “stopping 

point,” as they reviewed the items and record it to be sent for averaging with the other panelist 

decisions after all six ordered item lists were reviewed. The stopping point on each list reflects the 

point at which the panelist believes that a just-minimally competent candidate would be likely to 

find the item “hard” or very challenging, rather than “medium” or moderately challenging. Other 

than noting that choosing all six end points at one extreme or the other would produce impact 

estimates of 76% or 100% respectively, committee members were not shown any passing 

percentage impact estimates until after the results were computed. The committee was also told 

that some content areas were more challenging than others and they would not be expected to 

choose a stopping point at similar locations across all six ordered item lists. 

Average stopping points within each of the six ordered item lists ranged from 69.4% of 

items to 83.3% of items and individual decisions varied more in some categories than others, with 

standard deviations ranging from 6.8% to 19.7%. The average stopping point within the largest 

category (Periodontal Assessment) was split between two items, which resulted in two different 

possible passing scores, a raw score of 75 and a raw score of 72. The committee then reviewed the 

impact data at each raw score and came to a consensus decision at 74, which corresponds to an 

estimated passing percentage between 94.7% and 98.0%. Raw scores were then re-scaled so that 

the raw passing score is reported as a score of 75 out of 100 scale points. Post-equating was not 

necessary; the difficulty level and score range for each of the pre-equated final forms were very 

similar. Results from initial administration data are presented later in this document. 

 

 

Page 44



11 
 
 

 

Administration and Security 

Candidates are administered the examination at host schools, not at national testing centers, 

to ensure that candidates can be tested in a timely manner given delays in scheduling at national 

testing centers due to interruptions in administration caused by COVID-19. Time allocated for the 

examination is two hours, unless an accommodation for additional time is granted (Standards for 

Educational and Psychological Testing, AERA, APA, & NCME, 2014; Americans With 

Disabilities Act, 1990). 

At the examination site, candidates must provide two valid, non-expired forms of personal 

identification. Admittance to the exam does not imply that the identification presented was valid. 

If it is determined that a candidate’s identification is fraudulent or otherwise invalid, WREB will 

report to the appropriate governing agencies or board. Any candidate or other individual who has 

misreported information or altered documentation in order to fraudulently attempt an examination, 

will be subject to dismissal and reporting. 

A primary security concern for computer-based tests is unauthorized exposure of 

assessment items. WREB continually develops and field-tests new testing items to support large 

item banks and creates multiple test forms for selected-response examinations. The final questions 

that comprise the new DH OSCE test forms have had no previous administration exposure, other 

than limited screening and field testing under secure conditions with subject matter experts and 

small student field-test sessions. Many more items than appear on operational test forms were 

field-tested, and the equated test forms are randomly assigned to candidates. All subject matter 

experts, staff, and candidates sign a non-disclosure agreement regarding all secure examination 

material and information. 

Notes, textbooks, or other informational material must not be brought into the examination 

administration area. All electronic devices, including cell phones and smart watches, are 

prohibited. Prior to entry, candidates are required to empty and turn out all pockets, raise pants 

legs above the ankles, and shirt sleeves above the wrist. Eyewear and hair accessories are subject 

to inspection. Additional details of administration procedures and security guidelines are included 

in the DH OSCE Candidate Guide (WREB, 2020b). 

 

 

Page 45



12 
 
 

Remediation 

All pass/fail tests, theoretically, misclassify some examinees (i.e., false negatives and false 

positives), particularly for observed scores that are close to the passing score. Providing 

appropriate retake opportunities allows a candidate, who was misclassified hypothetically in their 

examination outcome but may be truly minimally competent, an opportunity to demonstrate 

minimal competence upon retake. However, the probability that a competent candidate would be 

theoretically misclassified (i.e., false negative) upon third or higher retake becomes very low and 

decreases with the number of retakes (Clauser, Margolis & Case, 2006). 

If a candidate fails the DH OSCE three (3) times, he or she is required to obtain formal 

remediation in the areas of failure prior to a fourth attempt. Upon failing a section a fourth time 

(or any subsequent failures), additional remediation is required, with a substantial increase in hours 

required. WREB will specify the required hours of remediation. Individual states may have more 

stringent requirements for remediation. If a candidate has failed any section of the exam two or 

more times, he or she is advised to contact the state in which he or she is seeking licensure to 

obtain the state’s requirements regarding remediation. Remediation must be completed at an 

accredited dental hygiene school in the United States or Canada. 

 

Interim Social Distancing and Infection Prevention Protocol 

Preventing infection by COVID-19 that may arise from airborne transmission or contact 

with potentially virulent surfaces is critical to ensuring the safety of candidates, school personnel, 

and agency personnel during examination and examination-related activities. Protocols must be 

followed to ensure that a) individuals participating in the examination are sufficiently distant from 

each other at all times, b) individuals use appropriate Personal Protective Equipment, and c) 

materials and surfaces remain clean and disinfected. 

Social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols have already been field tested by 

WREB for an interim alternative examination section being implemented in the WREB Dental 

Examination and will be applied to all administrations of the WREB Interim Dental Hygiene 

Examination, DH OSCE. In two recent Dental field tests conducted using the protocol, 93% of 

examinees surveyed felt that it was “Easy” to maintain social distancing throughout the 

examination. Survey comments included satisfaction with the safety measures, e.g., “I think this 

is a great way to test in a safe environment given the circumstances of the class of 2020” (WREB, 

Page 46



13 
 
 

2020c). In the recent DH OSCE field test conducted using the protocol, 100% of examinees 

surveyed responded “Yes” regarding whether the protocol used allowed for proper social 

distancing before, during, and after the examination. Additional results from the survey of field 

test examinees are provided later in this document. 

The social-distancing and infection-prevention protocols that are in place for the 

administration of the DH OSCE include, but are not limited to, the following examination features: 

 

 Limits on numbers of personnel and candidates assigned to the examination at 

one time and in one location 

 Distribution, required completion, and collection/review of a self-assessment 

survey instrument immediately prior to the examination (e.g., regarding 

symptoms, recent contact with suspected or known patient with COVID-19, and 

recent travel) 

 Required capture and logging of each participant’s temperature 

 Assignment of separated arrival times 

 Set-up, preparation, and monitoring for entry to the facility and examination 

area (e.g., survey completion and approval, donning face mask, temperature 

capture, hand sanitization, etc.) 

 Installation of floor and location markings throughout examination areas to 

ensure adherence to social distancing 

 Location of assigned individual testing areas that conform to social distancing 

guidelines 

 Pre-provision of examination equipment at individual testing areas to reduce 

unnecessary movement 

 Specific instructions regarding how to move around the testing area when 

necessary, how to return equipment, and how to leave the testing area and 

building upon completion without congregating 

 Monitoring of social distancing, use of PPE, and limiting of contact with objects 

and surfaces throughout the examination  

 Appropriate cleaning and disinfection of all equipment, individual testing areas 

and involved surfaces immediately before and following every examination 

Page 47



14 
 
 

 

The features described may be augmented according to updates for infection prevention 

from the Center for Disease Control (CDC) or more stringent school-specific requirements. The 

protocols employed will reflect or exceed CDC guidelines. If the test site has stricter guidelines 

than the CDC, then the protocol employed will reflect the test site requirements. 

WREB is coordinating with each site hosting an examination to develop a document 

communicating the social-distancing and infection-prevention protocol for that examination site. 

Prior to the exam, the document will be provided to candidates, on-site staff, and any other 

individuals who will be involved in examination. Candidates are expected to conform to the social 

distancing and infection prevention protocol and may risk dismissal and failure of the examination 

for gross, willful, or repeated protocol violation. 

 

Subject Matter Expert Review of 2020 Test Items 

From May 21-23, 2020, 23 subject matter experts (SMEs) from eleven states conducted 

independent reviews of over 300 finalized test items from the DH-OSCE item bank. Test items 

were assembled into review “test forms” in the same online test administration platform that was 

to be used to administer the DH OSCE to candidates. The SMEs included four members of the 

examination development committee, as well as 19 additional practicing dental hygienists with 

extensive experience as board examiners, state licensing board members and/or educators. The 23 

SMEs accessed three test forms with over 100 items each, responded to each item, made notes of 

any concerns, and responded to a survey after completing the review. Feedback regarding specific 

items led to revisions of several items and improvements in the size and quality of some images. 

Item responses were examined to determine whether the SMEs responded as expected, 

with respect to proportion correct, based on first round judgments of level of difficulty. There were 

ten items that had not received a difficulty rating by the committee and eight items that were 

immediately slated for removal or revision due to technical issues, e.g., one question was 

accompanied by the wrong image. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted 

between the proportion correct values and the initial difficulty judgments of the examination 

committee for the remaining 284 items. The proportion correct values were highly related to the 

predicted difficulty categories, with an F (df = 2, 282; α = 0.05) value of 12.94, and significant 

value of p < 0.01. Table 2 provides the mean proportion correct by predicted difficulty category, 

Page 48



15 
 
 

including the lower and upper bounds for the 95% confidence intervals around each mean. Other 

indicators of item quality were reviewed mostly for extreme results, given the limited stability of 

indicators like point-biserial correlations and item discrimination values with a small sample of 23 

examinees. Despite the small sample, mean point-biserial values ranged from 0.19 and 0.23 and 

mean item discrimination values ranged from 0.20 and 0.24, which are moderately small, but under 

conventional administration, would be anticipated with the criterion-referenced nature of the 

assessment. Mean proportion correct values over the three forms were between 0.78 and 0.82 and 

the Cronbach’s alpha reliability estimates were between 0.80 and 0.86. 

 

Table 2. Subject Matter Expert Review Mean Proportion Correct Values by Committee Predicted 

Difficulty Category, with 95% Confidence Interval Upper and Lower Bound Values 

Predicted Difficulty Category via 

First Round Standard Setting (Ebel) 

N  

Items 

Mean (SD) 95% CI 

Lower Bound 

95% CI 

Upper Bound 

Easy 120 0.85 (0.15) 0.82 0.88 

Medium 139 0.79 (0.20) 0.76 0.82 

Difficult 26 0.65 (0.26) 0.54 0.76 

 

 

Survey of Subject Matter Expert Review Participation 

SMEs were also asked to respond to a follow up survey, consisting of four questions with 

optional comments and a fifth question inviting other comments or suggestions. A link to the 

online survey was e-mailed to all twenty-three SMEs. Nineteen responded for a response rate of 

83%. Many respondents also included additional feedback regarding specific items in the survey. 

Question 1 asked if photographs and radiographic images were clear and diagnostic and 

Question 2 asked if questions were phrased in a manner that was clear and easy to understand. 

Figures 1a and 1b illustrate the percentages of each response for Questions 1 and 2. On both 

questions, sixteen SMEs (84.2%) responded “Most or all” and the other three (15.8%) responded 

“More than half.” Optional comments on Question 1 noted specific test questions, noting size or 

clarity issues. Optional comments on Question 2 also indicated specific questions, with some 

offering advice for revision, e.g., “#X could use a patient’s age to help clarify” or providing other 

feedback, e.g., “#X is too hard for students.” 

Page 49



16 
 
 

 

 

 
Figures 1a and 1b. Proportion of different responses to SME Survey Questions 1 and 2. 
 

 

Question 3 asked if the questions assessed content and practices that are important for 

entry-level dental hygienists to know and Question 4 asked the SMEs to rate the level of challenge 

posed by the examination. Figures 2a and 2b illustrate the percentages of each response for 

Questions 3 and 4. On Question 3, fifteen SMEs (78.9%) responded “Most or all,” with optional 

comments including “challenging but very good questions” and “I didn’t notice many that didn’t 

seem relevant.” The other four (21.1%) responded “More than half,” with comments including 

“Concern with questions about specific instruments - some entry-level may not be familiar” and 

“Seemed like a National Board exam.” On Question 4, seventeen SMEs (89.5%) responded “Most 

were about right,” with optional comments like, “Some seemed easier and some seemed a little 

more challenging.” The other two (10.5%) responded “Most were easy,” with one optional 

comment,  “I want to say they seemed too easy, then again I am not sure how I scored.” 

 

Page 50



17 
 
 

 
Figures 2a and 2b. Proportion of different responses to SME Survey Questions 3 and 4. 

 

Other comments or suggestions included mostly comments that followed up on the 

previous two questions, with a few encouraging more technique or clinical content questions, e.g., 

“Needs to be more clinical due to replacing assessment of candidate’s ability to detect and remove 

calculus.” The others were generally positive or expressed gratitude for the opportunity to 

participate, e.g., “Good questions from a wide scope,” “Overall good,” and “Thanks for the 

opportunity. It was interesting to be on the candidate side of it.” 

All comments were reviewed. Nearly all comments that provided specific feedback 

regarding question wording, images, or appropriateness for the examination purpose led to 

question revision or exclusion. The objectives established regarding the development of the DH 

OSCE examination included an emphasis on clinical content and techniques, and an intent to not 

assess content covered on the National Board Dental Hygiene Examination. Comments by SMEs 

reinforced these goals. 

 

Field Testing 

A student field-test was conducted from June 9 – 11, 2020. The field test was held in the 

WREB office in Phoenix, AZ, with small groups assigned to administration times across the 

available dates. A total of 25 dental hygiene students from two local dental hygiene schools 

participated. The field-test sample was much smaller than would have been preferred due to a) 

limitations regarding travel, b) reticence of dental hygiene programs and individual students to 

participate during pandemic conditions, and c) a significantly reduced time frame in which to 

Page 51



18 
 
 

develop the examination. The small sample allowed for screening and revision of some item issues 

and initial estimation of equated forms; however, final confirmation of item quality, setting of the 

passing score, and reviewing test forms for equating occurred later, following the receipt of results 

from an adequate sample of examinees. The field test also allowed for assessing the 

implementation of social distancing protocols and confirming that the amount of time allowed for 

the examination is appropriate. 

Field-test examinees were allowed up to two hours to complete the DH OSCE Field Test. 

The average length of time taken to complete the examination was 44 minutes, with a minimum 

testing time of 28 minutes and a maximum time of one hour, 11 minutes. The two-hour time was 

not reduced, however, given the small sample and the possibility that many examinees spent less 

time reviewing their responses due to the low-stakes nature of the test than they might during an 

authentic administration situation. 

The forms developed for the student field test adhered to the test specifications, including 

committee-recommended numbers of test items per subtopic within each category. An estimate of 

a preliminary passing standard based on the Ebel difficulty estimates was applied by summing and 

averaging the products of a hypothetical proportion correct (i.e., 0.85, 0.75, and 0.60 for Easy, 

Medium, and Difficult, respectively) and the number of items within each estimated difficulty 

category that appear on the forms. The estimated mean proportion correct of 0.77 corresponds to 

a score of 82 out of the total of 107 items per form. 

Despite the small sample, some test items stood out as non-viable or under-functioning due 

to very poor indices of item quality. Approximately one-third of items appeared on both student 

field test forms as anchor items, which provided a slight improvement in assessment of item 

functioning for some items. Ten items (i.e., fewer than 1%) required extensive revision and two 

items were replaced with other questions from the item bank and which had undergone review by 

the subject matter experts. Several other items received minor revisions or image re-sizing, upon 

final review. Mean point-biserial values ranged from 0.13 and 0.14 and mean item discrimination 

values ranged from 0.15 and 0.19, which are relatively small, but not unusual for criterion-

referenced assessment. Mean proportion correct values over the two forms were between 0.72 and 

0.78 and the Cronbach’s alpha reliability estimates were between 0.66 and 0.71. Score ranges were 

limited, given the small sample, particularly for one of the forms. A disparity in the level of 

Page 52



19 
 
 

difficulty between forms was also observed and addressed in the composition of final forms for 

operational administration. 

The raw field test forms were more challenging than expected, with only seven of twenty-

five (28%) attaining a score of 82 or higher. The sample was too small to conclude that the 

examination is excessively difficult and scores are likely to increase following the item revisions 

and replacements across forms. Though more challenging, overall, the performance of the student 

examinees was still highly related to the examination committee’s predicted levels of difficult 

categories. The committee’s Ebel difficulty estimates were significantly related to student 

examinee performance, with an F (df = 2, 168; α = 0.05) value of 6.45, and significant value of p 

< 0.01. Table 3 provides the mean proportion correct by predicted difficulty category, including 

the lower and upper bounds for the 95% confidence intervals around each mean. 

 

Table 3. Student Field-Test Mean Proportion Correct Values by Committee Predicted Difficulty 

Category, with 95% Confidence Interval Upper and Lower Bound Values 

Predicted Difficulty Category via 
First Round Standard Setting (Ebel) 

N 
Items 

Mean (SD) 
95% CI 

Lower Bound 
95% CI 

Upper Bound 

Easy 65 0.80 (0.21) 0.75 0.85 

Medium 88 0.67 (0.25) 0.62 0.72 

Difficult 18 0.66 (0.23) 0.54 0.77 

 

Figures 3a and 3b provide a comparison between the results of the SME review and the 

student field test. The figures display error bar graphs for SME performance by difficulty estimate 

and student examinee performance by difficulty estimate, respectively. The three categories were 

all significantly different from each other in the SME results. In the student field-test results, the 

“Easy” category is significantly different from the “Medium” and Difficult” categories, but the 

“Medium” and “Difficult” categories are not significantly different from each other. However, the 

wide range for “Difficult” in the student field-test results does include the hardest items on the 

forms. A notable difference between the SME and student field-test results is the degree to which 

the SMEs outperformed the students on items that were predicted to be at a “Medium” level of 

challenge. 

 

Page 53



20 
 
 

 

Figures 3a and 3b. Error bar graphs for (a) SME item proportion correct and (b) student field-test 

examinee item proportion correct by estimated difficulty category. Number of items across forms 

is shown as NI per category. Points indicate the mean proportion correct within category. Bars 

represent upper and lower bounds of the 95% confidence interval around each mean. 

 

Survey of Field-Test Examinees 

Student field-test examinees were given a paper and pencil survey to complete following 

the field-test examination. The survey had eight questions, with optional responses for each along 

with a final invitation for other comments or suggestions. All twenty-five examinees responded, 

with two responding to the first five questions only, presumably due to not turning the page over. 

Three questions, regarding the Candidate Guide, examination timing and the social distancing 

protocol, received unanimous responses of “Yes” and are shown in Table 4. 

 

Table 4. DH OSCE Student Field-Test Survey Questions 1, 2, and 8, with Unanimous Response 

Questions Unanimous Response 

1. Did the Candidate Guide provide the necessary information to 
adequately prepare you for the examination? 

Yes, 100% 

2. Did you finish the exam earlier than the time allotted? Yes, 100% 

8. Did the protocol in place allow for proper social distancing 
before, during and after the examination? 

Yes, 100% 

 

Page 54



21 
 
 

These three questions elicited few optional comments. One comment regarding Question 

1 was “More practice questions would be helpful” and the only comment regarding Question 2 

was “I tend to finish faster than average most of the time.” No optional comments were provided 

for Question 8. 

Question 3 asked if the quality of the photographs and radiographic images enable the 

examinee to answer the test questions and Question 4 asked if the questions were clear and easy 

to understand. Figures 4a and 4b illustrate the percentages of each response. On Question 3, many 

student examinees (84%) responded “Most or all,” a few (12%) responded “More than half,” and 

one (4%) chose “Less than half.” Optional comments included “A select few radiographs and 

intraoral photos were difficult to interpret due to image quality” and “Quality was great!” On 

Question 4, almost two-thirds of examinees (64%) responded “Most or all,” several (32%) 

responded “More than half,” and one (4%) chose “Less than half.” Optional comments included 

“I saw two instrument names I hadn’t heard of” and “Some were confusing the way they were 

worded.” 

 
Figures 4a and 4b. Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Questions 3 and 4. 
 

Question 5 asked if the questions assess content and practices important for entry-level 

dental hygienists and Question 6 asked if the exam content covered topics applicable to clinical 

practice. Figures 5a and 5b illustrate the percentages of each response. On Question 5, most student 

examinees (88%) responded “Most or all” and a few (12%) responded “More than half.” No 

optional comments were provided to Question 5. On Question 6, most student examinees (87%) 

responded “Most or all” and a few (13%) responded “More than half.” Only one optional comment 

Page 55



22 
 
 

was given “I don’t recall many pharmacology questions, maybe two or three?” Note that while a 

small number of items may assess some pharmacological content indirectly, pharmacology is not 

a content area or subtopic specified for the DH OSCE examination, since it is one of the content 

areas assessed on the National Board Dental Hygiene Examination (JCNDE, 2019). 

 

 
Figures 5a and 5b. Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Questions 5 and 6. 
 
 

Question 7 asked if the questions were easy, moderate, or difficult. Figure 6 illustrates the 

percentages of each response. Most student examinees (82.6%) responded “Moderate,” two (8.7%) 

responded “Easy,” and two (8.7%) responded “Difficult.” Only two comments were provided, e.g., 

“Some easy, some difficult.” 

 

 

Figure 6. Proportion of different responses to Field-Test Survey Question 7. 

Page 56



23 
 
 

Most of the “Other comments or suggestions” offered at the end of the survey included 

generally positive remarks, expressions of thanks, or repeats of previous comments, e.g., “More 

practice questions would be helpful” and “Overall I thought the test covered all the topics I learned 

in school and they were easy to understand.” One other comment, “Did not like that fluoride was 

PPM and not a %,” led to including percentages in addition to any references to ppm (parts per 

million) in relevant items. 

 

Technical Quality 

Operational administration of the DH OSCE began on June 26, 2020. One hundred and 

fifty (150) candidates from eleven different dental hygiene programs were administered the 

examination at two exam sites in two different states over two days in small sessions to facilitate 

social distancing. The average length of time taken by candidates who did not receive a time 

extension accommodation to complete the examination was one hour and 15 minutes (i.e., 75 

minutes), with a minimum testing time of 32 minutes and a maximum time of one hour, 57 minutes 

(i.e., 117 minutes). The results of this initial administration sample were analyzed to confirm 

technical adequacy and support the final round of standard setting that was held on July 2, 2020. 

As with the student field-test results, the original Ebel difficulty estimates by the SMEs 

were also compared to the initial administration candidate results for review at the final standard 

setting session. The committee’s Ebel difficulty estimates were significantly related to candidate 

performance, with an F (df = 2, 171; α = 0.05) value of 8.49, and significant value of p < 0.01. 

Table 5 provides the mean proportion correct by predicted difficulty category, including the lower 

and upper bounds for the 95% confidence intervals around each mean.  

 

Table 5. Candidate Mean Proportion Correct Values by Committee Predicted Difficulty Category, 

with 95% Confidence Interval Upper and Lower Bound Values 

Predicted Difficulty Category via 

First Round Standard Setting (Ebel) 

N  

Items 

Mean (SD) 95% CI 

Lower Bound 

95% CI 

Upper Bound 

Easy 68 0.87 (0.14) 0.84 0.91 

Medium 84 0.80 (0.18) 0.76 0.84 

Difficult 22 0.71 (0.19) 0.63 0.79 

 

Page 57



24 
 
 

Figures 7a, 7b, and 7c. provide a comparison among the results of the SME review, the 

student field test, and initial candidate results. Figures 7a and 7b display the error bar graphs shown 

earlier for SME and student examinee performance by difficulty estimate with the results for 

candidate performance by difficulty estimate (Figure 7c). The relationship between candidate 

performance and the three categories was similar to the student field-test results, with the “Easy” 

category significantly different from the “Medium” and Difficult” categories, and the “Medium” 

and “Difficult” categories not significantly different from each other. However, the average 

proportions correct are more comparable to SME performance. It was noted that initial 

administration results included high performance from some schools, which have demonstrated 

very high performance on past examinations (e.g., the conventional patient-based dental hygiene 

examination and local anesthesia written examination). 

 

 

Figures 7a, 7b, and 7c. Error bar graphs for (a) SME item proportion correct, (b) student field-test 

examinee item proportion correct, and (c) candidate proportion correct by estimated difficulty 

category. Number of items across forms is shown as NI per category. Points indicate the mean 

proportion correct within category. Bars represent upper and lower bounds of the 95% confidence 

interval around each mean. 

 

The DH OSCE examination forms were developed to be equivalent in content, level of 

challenge, and length of time needed to complete the test. As noted earlier, one test item on each 

final form was left unscored due to technical inadequacy. The items will remain on the test forms, 

unscored, so that the response data collected can inform review and revision later in  the season 

(e.g., to examine whether the topic assessed, which was common to both items, may perform 

Page 58



25 
 
 

differently by region or program). The results from the initial administration sample showed no 

significant difference between forms, so no post-equating of forms was conducted. 

Results of analyses of test item quality, form comparability, overall test functioning as well 

as candidate performance by content area and candidate pass/fall outcomes are presented in this 

section, for data collected through July 7, 2020, reflecting 172 examination attempts. Methods are 

based on classical test theory and Rasch/item response theory (IRT) methods. Classical item 

analysis statistics reviewed include item analysis statistics (e.g., proportion correct, item 

discrimination index [i.e., the difference between the proportions correct for the highest and lowest 

27% of examinees], and point-biserial correlation [i.e., the correlation between item responses and 

overall test performance]) and conventional descriptive statistics (i.e., mean, standard deviation, 

etc.). Classical indicators of overall test performance and performance by test form include overall 

means, standard deviations, medians, standard errors of measurement, internal consistency 

reliability estimates, as well as conditional standard errors of measurement at the raw passing 

score. 

The Rasch model (Rasch, 1960/1980), c.f., one-parameter logistic IRT model, is also 

applied. The Rasch model is well-suited for monitoring and improving assessments because 

requirements of the basic model include data properties consistent with optimal test design (e.g., 

unidimensionality). Indicators of item and test performance under the Rasch model reflect the 

degree of departure from outcomes that would be expected given optimal item and test functioning. 

The basic Rasch model for dichotomous responses can be expressed as follows, 

 

log(Pni / Pni – 1)  =  Bn –  Di ,      (1) 

 

where Pni is equal to the probability of correct response by a person n on a given item i, which is a 

function of the difference between the person's ability, Bn, and the item's difficulty, Di. Rasch 

model analysis item statistics reviewed include parameter estimates of item difficulty, infit and 

outfit mean-square fit statistics, and other statistics, where applicable (e.g., displacement values, 

when anchoring for pre-equating). For most analyses, means of all parameter estimates, except 

candidate ability, are constrained at zero, to allow estimation of candidate ability relative to item 

or task difficulty. Parameter estimates are reported in log-odds units, or logits, which can range 

from negative ∞ to positive ∞, but usually do not exceed |5.0|. Lower, negative parameter estimates 

Page 59



26 
 
 

correspond to lower candidate ability and lower levels of item difficulty. Higher, positive 

parameter estimates correspond to higher candidate ability and higher levels of item difficulty. Fit 

statistics should generally fall between 0.5 and 1.5 logits, with a range of 0.8 to 1.2 logits 

considered reasonable for high-stakes selected-response tests (Wright and Linacre, 1994). Mean-

square statistics that exceed 2.0 may reflect distortion in the measurement system and prompt close 

review. 

Means and standard deviations of basic item statistics were very similar between forms and 

are displayed in Table 6. Means of discrimination values and point-biserial correlations are 

relatively small but expected given the criterion-referenced nature of the assessment. Over two-

thirds of items on each form have values over 0.10. Many values below 0.10 are associated with 

items that have a high proportion of correct response. 

 

Table 6. DH OSCE Item Statistics by Test Form: Mean and Standard Deviation (SD), with Number 

of Items (NI) by Form; July 7, 2020, 172 Examination Attempts 

 
Mean (SD) 

Form A                 Form B 
NI = 106                NI = 106 

Proportion Correct 0.81 (0.17) 0.81 (0.18) 

Discrimination Index 0.14 (0.14) 0.15 (0.14) 

Point-biserial Correlation 0.18 (0.13) 0.18 (0.13) 

 

All Rasch model infit mean square fit statistics were within recommended ranges, with 

values ranging from 0.89 to 1.13 for Form A and from 0.89 to 1.16 for Form B.  Most outfit mean 

square statistics were within recommended ranges, with six items (5.7%) exceeding a value of 1.20 

on Form A (outfit values ranged from 0.38 to 1.61) and seven items (6.6%)  exceeding a value of 

1.20 on Form B including one over 2.00 (outfit values ranged from 0.31 to 2.05). The item with 

an outfit value of 2.05 had a very high proportion correct (i.e., 0.99). 

Table 7 provides the mean number correct and standard deviation for scored items, by test 

form, for the six content areas. Performance by content area was similar across forms. Final scores 

are based on all items, however, candidates who are not successful receive a score report that is 

broken out by content area, with a caution to consider all content areas in their preparation for 

Page 60



27 
 
 

retake, since the number of items within a category is much smaller and performance within a 

category is likely to vary more than overall score across subsequent examination attempts. 

 

Table 7. DH OSCE Content Areas by Test Form: Mean Number Correct and Standard Deviation 

(SD); July 7, 2020, 172 Attempts 

 
Mean Number Correct (SD) 
Form A                  Form B 

Medical History (14 Items) 11.75 (1.58) 11.61 (1.45) 

Risk Assessment (13 Items) 10.81 (1.26) 11.94 (1.40) 

Extraoral & Intraoral Examination (7 Items)   6.15 (0.85)   5.70 (1.06) 

Periodontal Assessment (30 items) 23.86 (2.82) 22.76 (2.66) 

Dental Hygiene Treatment & Care Plan (21 items) 16.84 (1.86) 17.98 (1.59) 

Instrumentation (21 Items) 16.86 (2.05) 16.82 (1.96) 

 

No significant difference in mean performance was found between test forms. Table 8 

displays means, standard deviations, and results of one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) 

conducted to assess comparability of Rasch ability parameter estimates, raw scores, and scale 

scores (i.e., reported scores) across test forms. 

 

Table 8. ANOVA Results for Ability Parameters, Raw Scores, and Scale Scores by DH OSCE Test 

Form: Means, Standard Deviations (SDs), 95% Confidence Intervals for Means, F-values, degrees 

of freedom (df), and p-values, July 7, 2020, 172 Attempts, Form A N = 85, Form B N = 87 

 
Test 
Form Mean (SD) 

95% CI 
For Mean 

F value 
df= (1,170) p value b 

Rasch Ability Parameter a 
A 1.80 (0.51) 1.69; 1.91 

2.89 0.09 
B 1.93 (0.53) 1.82; 2.04 

Raw score 
A 86.27 (6.35) 84.90; 87.64 

0.23 0.64 
B 85.80 (6.53) 84.41; 87.20 

Scale score 
A 84.60 (5.00) 83.52; 85.68 

0.27 0.61 
B 84.20 (5.27) 83.07; 85.32 

a  In logit (log-odds) units 
b  Significance level α = 0.05 

Page 61



28 
 
 

 

Summary statistics for raw scores, scale scores (i.e., reported scores), and Rasch ability 

parameter estimates, standard errors of measurement (SEMs), conditional standard errors of 

measurement at the passing score (CSEMs), indicators of reliability, indices of classification 

adequacy, and passing percentages by test form are presented in Table 9. Estimated values of 

Cronbach’s alpha coefficient of internal-consistency reliability (Cronbach, 1951) depend upon 

sample variability and may be attenuated due to the high level of candidate preparedness in 

criterion-referenced credentialing assessment. Many candidates perform very well on several test 

items. While eliminating these items can increase the alpha estimate, they are included because 

subject matter experts have determined that the information assessed is essential to minimal 

competence. Similarly, adding additional items, especially more challenging items, can increase 

the estimate of alpha, but are not included since the purpose of the examination is to assess minimal 

competence, rather than discriminate among candidates with very high levels of knowledge and 

ability. Other indicators, such as Peng-Subkoviak P0 estimates of classification consistency (Peng 

& Subkoviak, 1980) and the Brennan-Kane Ф(λ) index of dependability (Brennan & Kane, 1977), 

provide insight into the reliability of pass-fail outcomes. 

Estimates of alpha are moderately high, with values of 0.68 and 0.70 for Form A and B, 

respectively. Dependability index values, which take item variance into account, are high, with 

values of 0.93 and 0.92, while classification consistency values are even higher, with values of 

0.98 and 0.97, since mean scores are far above the passing score (i.e., raw score of 74), making 

misclassification less likely. Passing percentages per form are 96.5% and 95.4%. The overall 

passing percentage is 95.9%. A chi-square analysis was conducted to assess the comparability of 

pass/fail outcome by form. No significant difference in pass/fail outcome was found among forms, 

with a chi-square value of 0.13 and p exact = 1.00 (df=2, N=172, α = 0.05). The p-value reflects 

Fisher’s exact test, since the number of unsuccessful candidates at this early point in the testing 

season is small and the chi square table has two cells with expected frequencies of less than five. 

The expected number of failures was 3.5 for both forms; the observed number failures was three 

(3) and four (4) for Forms A and B, respectively.  

 

 

 

Page 62



29 
 
 

Table 9. Indicators of Overall Test Functioning by DH OSCE Test Form: July 7, 2020, 172 

Attempts 

  Form A Form B 

N Attempts 85 87 

Raw Score (1 to 106) 

Mean (SD) 86.27 (6.35) 85.80 (6.53) 

Median 85 86 

Minimum; Maximum 70; 98 66; 99 

Scale Score (1 to 100) 

Mean (SD) 84.6 (5.00) 84.2 (5.27) 

Median 84 84 

Minimum; Maximum 71; 94 67; 95 

Rasch Ability Estimate a 

Mean (SD) 1.80 (0.51) 1.93 (0.53) 

Median 1.64 1.89 

Minimum; Maximum 0.69; 2.95 0.60; 3.31 

Standard Error of Measurement (SEM) 3.59 3.60 

Conditional Standard Error of Meas. (CSEM) 4.26 4.24 

α Reliability Estimate (Cronbach’s alpha) 0.68 0.70 

Ф(λ) Index of Dependability 0.93 0.92 

Ρ0 Classification Consistency 0.98 0.97 

Passing Percentage 96.5% 95.4% 
a  In logit (log-odds) units 
 

 

Additional analyses are conducted routinely and ad hoc in addition to the analyses 

summarized in this report. For example, as the season progresses, analyses to confirm the 

consistency of electronic scoring procedures, evaluate candidate performance on examination 

retakes, and compute end of season passing percentages will be conducted. The committee will 

also be preparing replacement and additional test forms to ensure on-going security, in case 

COVID-19 related conditions continue and the need for an extension of the interim examination 

into the 2021 examination season is determined. 

All indicators of test functioning and candidate performance reported here will be updated 

throughout the season for reporting to the DH OSCE examination committee, the Dental Hygiene 

Page 63



30 
 
 

Examination Review Board and Board of Directors, as well as state licensing boards. Additional 

details and information regarding any aspect of development, administration, or psychometric and 

statistical analyses are available upon request. 

  

Page 64



31 

REFERENCES 

American Academy of Periodontology (2017). American Academy of Periodontology Task Force 

Report on the update to the 1999 Classification of Periodontal Diseases and Conditions. 

Journal of Periodontology, 86(7), 835-837. 

American Association of Dental Boards (2005). Guidance for Clinical Licensure Examinations in 

Dentistry. Chicago, IL: AADB. 

American Dental Association (2020). Dental Licensure Objective Structured Clinical Examination 

(DLOSCE) FAQ. At:  https://www.ada.org/en/jcnde/dental-licensure-objective-structured-

clinical-examination/dental-licensure-objective-structured-clinical-examination-faq  

Accessed 30 Apr. 2020. 

American Dental Hygienists’ Association (2016) Standards for Clinical Dental Hygiene Practice. 

At: https://www.adha.org/resources-docs/2016-Revised-Standards-for-Clinical-Dental-

Hygiene-Practice.pdf  Accessed 30 Apr. 2020. 

American Educational Research Association, American Psychological Association, & National 

Council on Measurement in Education. (2014). Standards for Educational and 

Psychological Testing. Washington, DC: American Educational Research Association. 

Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, Pub. L. No. 101-336, 104 Stat. 328 (1991). 

Brennan, R. L., & Kane, M. T. (1977). An index of dependability for mastery tests. Journal of 

Educational Measurement, 14, 277-289. 

California Department of Consumer Affairs (2000). Examination Validation Policy. Sacramento, 

CA: CDCA. 

Clauser, B. E., Margolis, M. J., & Case, S. M. (2006). Testing for Licensing and Certification in 

the Professions. In R. L. Brennan (Ed.), Educational Measurement (4th ed., pp. 701-731). 

Westport, CT: American Council on Education, Praeger.  

Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika, 16, 

297-334.

Ebel, R. L. (1972). Essentials of Educational Measurement (2nd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: 

Prentice-Hall. 

Harden, R. M., Stevenson, M., Downie, W. W., & Wilson, G. M. (1975). Assessment of clinical 

competence using objective structured examination. The British Medical Journal, 

1(5955), 447-451. 

Page 65



32 

Joint Commission on National Dental Examinations. (2019). National Board Dental Hygiene 

Examination 2019 Candidate Guide. Chicago, IL: JCNDE. 

Mitzel, H. C., Lewis, D. M., Patz, R. J., & Green, D. R. (2001). The bookmark procedure: 

Psychological perspectives. In G. J. Cizek (Ed.), Standard Setting: Concepts, Methods, 

and Perspectives. (pp. 249-281). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum. 

Peng, C-Y. J., & Subkoviak, M. J. (1980). A note on Huynh’s normal approximation procedure 

for estimating criterion-referenced reliability. Journal of Educational Measurement, 17, 

359-368.

Rasch, G. (1960/1980). Probabilistic models for some intelligence and attainment tests. 

Copenhagen: Danish Institute for Educational Research, 1960. Expanded edition, Chicago: 

The University of Chicago Press, 1980. 

Schulz, E. M., Kolen, M., & Nicewander, W. A. (1999). A rationale for defining achievement 

levels using IRT-estimated domain scores. Applied Psychological Measurement, 23, 347-

362. 

Western Regional Examining Board. (2016). WREB Process of Care Examination 2011-2014 

Psychometric Overview. Phoenix, AZ: WREB. 

Western Regional Examining Board. (2020a). WREB Dental Hygiene Practice Analysis Report. 

Phoenix, AZ: WREB. 

Western Regional Examining Board. (2020b). WREB 2020 Dental Hygiene Objective Structured 

Clinical Examination Candidate Guide. Phoenix, AZ: WREB. 

Western Regional Examining Board. (2020c). WREB Interim Clinical Dental Examination: 

COVID-19 Performance-Based Simulation Examination Psychometric Overview. 

Phoenix, AZ: WREB. 

Wright, B. D., & Linacre, J M. (1994). Reasonable mean-square fit values. Rasch Measurement 

 Transactions, 8, 370. Retrieved Nov. 29, 2009 from: 

http://www.rasch.org/rmt/rmt83b.htm. 

Zieky, M.J., Perie, M., & Livingston, S. L. (2008). Cutscores: A Manual for Setting Standards of 

Performance on Educational and Occupational Tests. Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing 

Service. 

Page 66



33 

Sharon E. Osborn Popp, Ph.D. 

WREB Testing Specialist/ Psychometrician 

Copyright 2020 
WREB - A National Dental and Dental Hygiene Testing Agency 

23460 N. 19th Avenue, Suite 210 - Phoenix, Arizona 85027 

phone:  602-209-5400 fax: 602-371-8131

Page 67



Agenda Item (6)(c)
Voluntary Surrender of License 

Page 68



Page 69


	Item (4)(a)(1): Draft Minutes - Board Meeting 09/15/2020
	Memorandum: Temporary License
	Memorandum: Unrestricted Temporary License 
	Memorandum: Extended Date for Temporary Unrestricted Licenses signed by ADEX
	Memorandum: Temporary Unrestricted Licenses signed by WREB (Dental)
	Item (6)(a): WREB - OSCE Exam Dental Hygiene
	Item (6)(c): Voluntary Surrender of License



